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public and even private resources.

Ms. Leon Guerrero, from the start of 
the public health emergency, has said 
these powers have been critical in the 
effort to reduce the rate of infection, 
hospitalization, and death due to the 
coronavirus.

She has been met with resistance from 
vocal critics, including some republican 
senators, over a number of factors 
throughout the pandemic ranging from 
the alleged abuse of federal pandemic 
funds to the truthfulness of claims the 
administration has made about public 
health policies.

“I cannot stand on the sidelines and watch 
as the people suffer, businesses shut down 
and employees laid off,” Mr. Camacho 
said Tuesday as he announced his 
candidacy and explained why he is leaving 
retirement to enter the race for governor. 
“I see the freedoms being touched by big 
government. I see this as a new season 
of freedom and prosperity. Fear has been 
used by government to control our lives.”

By Troy Torres

Former Gov. Felix Camacho’s announced 
reasons for running against Gov. Lou 
Leon Guerrero have drawn a line in the 
sand between Guam’s two political 
parties. Where Ms. Leon Guerrero’s 
Democratic Party has defended her battle 
against coronavirus disease ravaging the 
population, the Republican Party of Guam 
has now adopted Mr. Camacho’s stance: 
her pandemic policies have hurt, more 
than helped the livelihood of Guamanians.

This now is the most relevant and 
distinctive issue of the gubernatorial 
election. It is why Kandit has invited the 
political parties to send one representative 
each to our studio Monday evening at 6 
p.m. We will be live casting a two-hour 
discussion on the effectiveness of the 
public health emergency policies, and 
where we must go from here.

The discussion is timely. Barring another 
declaration by the world’s doctors of 
another so-called deadly variant, Ms. Leon 
Guerrero seems poised to follow in the 

Did her policies save lives? What’s next?
footsteps of other American governors 
and further relax restrictions.

“If we sustain our downward trend, 
we can look forward to returning, 
gradually and safely, to our way of life,” 
the governor said in a special address 
announcing her order rescinding her 
proof-of-vaccination mandate this 
weekend. 

Beginning Saturday, February 26, 
indoor establishments such as 
restaurants and theaters no longer will 
be required to card patrons about their 
vaccination status. This was among a 
long list of mandates restricting the 
movement and so-called freedoms of 
Guamanians since Ms. Leon Guerrero 
declared a state of public health 
emergency nearly two years ago. 
Her monthly declarations, which by 
law last for only 30-day intervals and 
must be renewed by executive order 
to continue, give her and her public 
health director broad and near-
dictatorial powers over the use of 
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The coronavirus had, in some 
way, killed 322 Guamanians as 
of February 25, 2022. Would 
more people have died if the 
governor’s policies were less 
stringent? Could she have 
saved more lives with stricter 
policies? What may have 
happened if the republicans 
succeeded in ending the state 
of public health emergency last 
summer, when some senators 
first proposed the idea of 
requiring legislative approval 
for a renewal of such a state?

What effect did these policies 
have on Guam’s economy, and 
the livelihood of the average 
family?

Mr. Camacho was clear in his 
Tuesday announcement about 
the governor’s pandemic 
policies.

“This has resulted in a lot of 

social ills on our island,” Mr. 
Camacho said.

Referring to homeless people 
he said he and a group of 
others feed on Wednesdays, 
he said, “The hopelessness and 
despair, the lack of hope, has 
really touched me so much.”

The social ills - whether 
exacerbated as a result 
ofpandemic policies or the 
result of years of growing 
poverty and worsening values - 
clearly are around. So, the more 
important question is, what do 
we do about it now?

Which candidate for governor 
has the better plan? Perhaps 
we can get clearer answers, 
when the representatives from 
the two political parties discuss 
these points Monday.$iM
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The political scoreboard:
Our coverage of this issue began:		  February 2019

Call to action:									         Reform of the MMMA Act

Who can act?:									         Senators and the governor

What action has been taken?:			   Speaker Therese Terlaje introduced 		
reform legislation - Bill No. 112-36. Senators have yet to vote on it.

Has action led to solution?:				    As of February 26, 2022: No.

Mr. Lubofsky reported these events to the Guam Board of Medical 
Examiners, the Allied Health Board, and the Guam Board of Nurse 
Examiners in 2019, but to no avail. At the time, there was no public 
record of what happened. He eventually filed lawsuits in the 
Superior and District Courts of Guam for the wrongful death of his 
son.

Over the summer of 2020, Mr. Lubofsky caught a break. GMH was 
forced to disclose the May 3, 2019 CMMS report, which implicated 
the nurses, respiratory therapists, and doctors in the death of 
Asher Dean.  The report included summaries of the interviews 
with the medical providers, including two women who attended 
to Asher Dean.

Mr. Lubofsky wrote an editorial for Kandit on November 21, 2020 
that read:

“Doctors are not accountable in Guam for medical negligence and 
that creates apathy, the same apathy and lack of accountability 
that may relate to the abuse of other staff and allows them to 
think they can get away with it. This does not apply to all doctors 
of course. I do not mean to cast a net over the whole medical 
community, but apathy related to a lack of accountability is an 
inherently dangerous issue within the medical field on Guam due 
to protective laws at GMH and island wide. 

The Medical Malpractice 
Mandatory Arbitration Act
By Danielle M. Baza

On October 31, 2018, Asher Dean Lubofsky died at Guam Memorial 
Hospital.  Asher was admitted the day before, and his condition worsened 
gradually over night. According to his father, David Lubofsky, in previous 
statements to Kandit News, his son was never admitted to the ICU despite 
his deteriorating condition, the nurses never set him up with a breathing 
tube despite his labored breathing, and a doctor never checked on him 
through the night.

An investigative report on Asher Dean’s death by the U.S. Centers for 
Medicare and Medicaid Services secretly published May 3, 2019, confirmed 
Mr. Lubofsky’s statements, and more. Asher Dean is identified in the CMMS 
report as Patient 6.  Mr. Lubofsky constantly asked the nurses on duty for a 
doctor to see his son, and for his son to be intubated so he could breathe 
and rest. The nurses, on the order of doctors whom they had called, gave 
the boy Albuterol and Tylenol for his symptoms.  

“Did my son die not only by alleged medical negligence with apathetic 
people who have no accountability and responsibility to their patients, 
but also due to the abuse of medical nursing staff by doctors that 
resulted in nurses “freezing in fear” and prevented them from giving 
the critical care Asher needed as they waited for a doctor to wake up, 
too intimidated to call again?”

The current Mandatory Medical Malpractice Arbitration Act states 
no one in Guam can bring a lawsuit against a healthcare provider 
for medical malpractice unless the grieving party first goes through 
medical arbitration at the expense of the grieving party. That expense 
begins at around $40,000 to $60,000 in upfront costs, making 
arbitration unaffordable for the poor and middle classes.  Lubofsky 
isn’t the only grieving party or resident who looks forward to changing 
the law so that poor and middle class citizens have access to due 
process through the courts. Others throughout the years have tried to 
challenge the MMMA Act on the grounds that it violates every citizen’s 
constitutionally protected right to due process.

U.S. District Court Judge Ramona Manglona made it clear, in an order 
in the Lubofsky case, that if the MMMA Act were to be interpreted by 
the Guam Supreme Court to force medical arbitration on a grieving 
party that cannot afford it, then the MMMA Act would certainly violate 
the Constitution’s 14th Amendment.i



The magistrates reports
Violent Crimes Bulletin

The Magistrates Reports
Violent Crimes Bulletin

Here is a summary of the criminal justice system’s handling of the sex 
crimes and violent crimes magistrated since January 1, 2022.

There have been 84 people magistrated since January 1, 2022 in local court 
for sex crimes and violent crimes. The following is a summarized breakdown of 
where these cases are:

Family violence cases:		  52			   NONE

Child abuse cases:			   10			   NONE

Assault cases:				   17			   NONE

Aggravated assault cases:	 17			   NONE

Sex crimes cases:			   8			   NONE

Murder cases:				   1			   NONE

Attempted murder cases:	 1			   NONE

Cases adjudicated:

The summaries of criminal allegations and mugshots continue in the following pages.
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Brandin Jaymes Agasen 
San Nicolas: CF0004-22
strangulation; family violence

On January 1, 2022, Brandin San 
Niolas was accused of punching 
his grandfather in the chest.  The 
victim had woken up to find 
San Nicolas threw and scattered 
things all throughout the house.  
San Nicolas started yelling and 
screaming at the victim.  When 
San Nicolas punched the victim, 
he tried to walk upstairs to avoid 
any further physical confrontation 
but San Nicolas started choking 
him and he could not breathe.  
San Nicolas denied hitting any-
one.

Tenerio Eram: CM0003-22
fourth degree criminal sexual con-
duct; harassment

On January 1, 2022, Tenerio Eram 
was accused of harassing three 
employees at the Westin Hotel.  
N.G., a wait staff for Taste Restau-
rant, said she overheard Z.C. yell, 
“hey that’s harassment,” before 
seeing Eram leaving the kitchen 
area.  Another witness also saw 
Eram make a gesture and touch 
Z.C.’s leg.  N.G. said Eram was a 
guest and former employee at 
the Westin.  N.G. was cleaning up 
after a party and saw Eram grab 
an empty bottle from B.C. and 
poked B.C.’s breast with the bottle.  
N.G. said she felt disgusted, told 
Eram he cannot do that and Eram 
laughed.    Police interviewed 
B.C. who confirmed that Eram 
had touched her left breast with 
an empty bottle and reached 
with his left hand to touch her 
left breast.  B.C. said that she felt 
uncomfortable, disgusted, and 
violated.

STATUS:
Magistrated: January 1, 2022
Arraigned: 
The AG’s office has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

RELEASED FROM PRISON

STATUS:
Magistrated: January 1, 2022
Arraigned: January 26, 2022
Trial has been set for November 
16, 2022 at 1:30 p.m. in front of 
Judge Maria T. Cenzon

RELEASED FROM PRISON

William Andrew Petrocci: 
CM0004-22
family violence

On January 2, 2022, William Pet-
rocci was accused of grabbing his 
girlfriend by the hair and throw-
ing her against the bed frame.  
Petrocci transported the victim 
to GRMC to have her injuries 
checked but when she told the 
doctor what happened, Petrocci 
got upset.  Petrocci left the hospi-
tal and threatened the victim via 
text so she reported him to the 
police.  She had a large swollen 
bruise on her right hip and anoth-
er bruise around her right bicep 
where Petrocci had grabbed her. 

STATUS:
Magistrated: January 2, 2022
Arraigned: January 26, 2022
Trial has been set for March 23, 
2022 at 9:30 a.m. in front of Judge 
Maria T. Cenzon

RELEASED FROM PRISON

Tresean Durrell Ramey: 
CF0007-22
burglary to a motor vehicle; assault 
on a peace officer

On January 2, 2022, Tresean Ra-
mey was accused of attempting 
to burglarize Champain Aguon’s 
2014 Kia Soul.  Rodolfo Balbastro 
witnessed a male walking on the 
side of the road and then looking 
through the windows of vehicles.  
Balbastro called Benjamin Schiff, 
Champain’s boyfriend, to alert 
him that Ramey was entering into 
the Kia.  Ramey was arrested and 
became combative and yelling at 
officers.  When the officers tried 
to place Ramey in leg restraints, 
he allegedly kicked GPD Offi-
cer Miguel Castigator in the left 
thigh with his right foot.  Ramey 
head-butted GPD officer Steven 
Arceo in the mouth.

STATUS:
Magistrated: January 2, 2022
Arraigned: 
Trial has been set for March 16, 
2022 at 9:30 a.m. in front of Judge 
Vernon P. Perez

INCARCERATED



Ronnie James Tyquiengco: 
CF0008-22
robbery; aggravated assault; assault

STATUS:
Magistrated: January 2, 2022
Arraigned: February 25, 2022
Trial has been set for August 10, 
2022 at 9:30 a.m. in front of Judge 
Alberto E. Tolentino

INCARCERATED

The Pepsi Puncher: On Janu-
ary 2, 2022, Ronnie Tyquiengco 
was accused of punching Tatsue 
Espinosa in the face, rendering 
her unconscious, after she bought 
him Pepsi at his request.  Con-
nie Reyes, the reporting person, 
called the police when she found 
the victim unconscious.  Espinosa 
had blood all over her face and 
Reyes had to shake her several 
times in order for her to gain con-
sciousness.  Officers noted bruis-
ing and swelling on the left side 
of Espinosa’s nose, blood tracks 
from upper left nose to right 
eye, and swelling to her left eye.  
Another witness, Brandon San-
tiago, told the police that Tyqui-
engco had struck Espinosa with a 
bag, unknown style or color.  The 
victim recognized Tyquiengco by 
the all-black tattoo on his upper 
left arm.

STATUS:
Magistrated: January 2, 2022
Arraigned: 
Trial has been set for September 
14, 2022 at 9:30 a.m. in front of 
Judge Vernon P. Perez

RELEASED FROM PRISON

Joyner Soram: CF0002-22
assault on a peace officer; disorderly 
conduct

Joyner Soram wass accused of 
assaulting a peace officer and 
disorderly conduct.  Soram showed 
up to work smelling like an intox-
icating beverage and was yelling 
at other employees.  Frankie Cruz 
said Soram was asked to leave and 
so he became violent and asked 
other employees to fight.  When 
the police arrived and asked him 
to calm down, he took a bladed 
fighting stance and officers arrested 
him.  Soram kicked officer Tiffanie 
Rodriguez on her leg when he was 
placed inside the patrol vehicle then 
kicked officer Jason Dodd.

Gerard David Salas: 
CF0006-22
child abuse; family violence; posses-
sion of a controlled substance

STATUS:
Magistrated: January 2, 2022
Arraigned:
Trial has been set for April 6, 2022 
at 9:30 a.m. in front of Judge Ma-
ria T. Cenzon

RELEASED FROM PRISON

On January 2, 2022, Gerard Salas 
was pulled over for expired tabs 
and speeding.  He was found with 
meth and arrested for the existing 
charges and the prior complaint 
of child abuse.  Chiara Sgambel-
luri had made a complaint on De-
cember 1, 2021 involving Gerard 
Salas’s two minor children.  The 
children were allegedly whipped 
with a “belt, zori and extension 
cord” and sometimes a “rubber 
rope with two metal hooks.” The 
children also said he did not 
usually feed them and would give 
their food stamps to another per-
son.  Salas also made one of the 
children sleep on the grass after 
going to the gym to charge the 
phone and use the wifi there.

STATUS:
Magistrated: January 3, 2022
Arraigned:
The AG’s office has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

RELEASED FROM PRISON

Arnold Paulus: CM0005-22
family violence

On January 3, 2022, Arnold Paulus 
was accused of kicking his wife 
in the chest area.  The victim fell 
to the ground and Paulus placed 
his foot on her face and dragged 
her by the hair.  A minor, T.S age 
11, another child, and family 
members witnessed the incident.  
Paulus said that he did not do 
anything wrong and that all he 
did was push his wife.  Officers 
noted the defendant seemed 
intoxicated.



STATUS:
Magistrated: January 3, 2022
Arraigned: January 28, 2022
Trial set for October 17, 2022 at 
9:30 a.m. in front of Judge Alberto 
C. Lamorena

RELEASED FROM PRISON

Llemalt Pierre Tangelbad: 
CF0009-22
family violence; possession of a 
controlled substance

On January 3, 2022, Llemalt Tan-
gelbad aka Monte, was accused of 
attacking his girlfriend who is sev-
en months pregnant with Tangel-
bad’s child.  During an argument, 
Tangelbad threw his girlfriend on 
the bed and wrapped his legs and 
arms around her tightly, prevent-
ing her from moving.  Tangelbad 
then slapped her fi ve times in 
the face with his open palm.  He 
pinched her inner thighs and on 
his way out, threw two ceramic 
plates to the fl oor.  His girlfriend 
told the police he had prevented 
her from calling the police.  The 
victim’s daughter, age 5, told the 
police, “Daddy broke [the ceramic 
plates] after slapping Mommy.”  
The victim told police that Tan-
gelbad forces her to get money to 
buy more ice and showed them a 
drawer where drug parapherna-
lia was kept.  Tangelbad said he 
is a recovering meth addict and 
smoked sometime last month 
and knew it was wrong for him to 
keep the drugs in the drawer.

Thomas Degracia Rabago: 
CF0010-22
assault; criminal mischief

STATUS:
Magistrated: January 4, 2022
Arraigned: February 9, 2022
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

RELEASED FROM PRISON

On January 4, 2022, Phillip Bamba, 
called the police to report a road 
rage incident.  Thomas Rabago 
is accused of “tailgating” Bamba, 
pulling up next to him and calling 
him out to fi ght.  When Bamba 
and Rabago pulled over, Rabago 
threw a piece of a jack to Bamba’s 
car.  Bamba tried to roll up his 
window but Rabago grabbed the 
window with both hands, pre-
venting the window from rolling 
up.  Rabago punched Bamba in 
the face three times with a closed 
right hand.  Offi  cers noted a one 
inch gauge mark in the driver’s 
side hood, white surface scratches 
on the right passenger side and 
hand prints on the top portion of 
the driver’s side window.

STATUS:
Magistrated: January 3, 2022
Arraigned: 
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

INCARCERATED

Val Morada: CM0007-22
family violence

On January 5, 2022, Val Morada 
allegedly yelled at his 78-year-old 
father to, “Get out of the fucking 
way,” and pushed the victim to the 
ground.  When police arrived, they 
saw the victim bound with rope 
at his ankles and wrists.  Offi  cers 
observed bruising on the victims 
arm and the victim told police he 
was afraid of his son.

STATUS:
Magistrated: January 7, 2022
Arraigned: 
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

RELEASED FROM PRISON

Ryan Miranda: CM0013-22
family violence

On January 7, 2022, Ryan Miranda 
was accused of jumping on his 
wife and pinning her down to 
the bed.  The two were in their 
bedroom and started arguing.  
When Miranda pinned her down, 
he punched her right arm several 
times and pulled her hair.  The vic-
tim repeatedly asked him to stop.  
Their children, K.R.M. (age 15) and 
K.M. (age 8) told police they were 
in the room and witnessed Miran-
da doing these things.  K.M. ran 
out of the room and called police.



STATUS:
Magistrated: January 3, 2022
Arraigned: January 28, 2022
Trial set for October 17, 2022 at 
9:30 a.m. in front of Judge Alberto 
C. Lamorena

RELEASED FROM PRISON

Llemalt Pierre Tangelbad: 
CF0009-22
family violence; possession of a 
controlled substance

On January 3, 2022, Llemalt Tan-
gelbad aka Monte, was accused of 
attacking his girlfriend who is sev-
en months pregnant with Tangel-
bad’s child.  During an argument, 
Tangelbad threw his girlfriend on 
the bed and wrapped his legs and 
arms around her tightly, prevent-
ing her from moving.  Tangelbad 
then slapped her fi ve times in 
the face with his open palm.  He 
pinched her inner thighs and on 
his way out, threw two ceramic 
plates to the fl oor.  His girlfriend 
told the police he had prevented 
her from calling the police.  The 
victim’s daughter, age 5, told the 
police, “Daddy broke [the ceramic 
plates] after slapping Mommy.”  
The victim told police that Tan-
gelbad forces her to get money to 
buy more ice and showed them a 
drawer where drug parapherna-
lia was kept.  Tangelbad said he 
is a recovering meth addict and 
smoked sometime last month 
and knew it was wrong for him to 
keep the drugs in the drawer.

Thomas Degracia Rabago: 
CF0010-22
assault; criminal mischief

STATUS:
Magistrated: January 4, 2022
Arraigned: February 9, 2022
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

RELEASED FROM PRISON

On January 4, 2022, Phillip Bamba, 
called the police to report a road 
rage incident.  Thomas Rabago 
is accused of “tailgating” Bamba, 
pulling up next to him and calling 
him out to fi ght.  When Bamba 
and Rabago pulled over, Rabago 
threw a piece of a jack to Bamba’s 
car.  Bamba tried to roll up his 
window but Rabago grabbed the 
window with both hands, pre-
venting the window from rolling 
up.  Rabago punched Bamba in 
the face three times with a closed 
right hand.  Offi  cers noted a one 
inch gauge mark in the driver’s 
side hood, white surface scratches 
on the right passenger side and 
hand prints on the top portion of 
the driver’s side window.

STATUS:
Magistrated: January 3, 2022
Arraigned: 
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

INCARCERATED

Val Morada: CM0007-22
family violence

On January 5, 2022, Val Morada 
allegedly yelled at his 78-year-old 
father to, “Get out of the fucking 
way,” and pushed the victim to the 
ground.  When police arrived, they 
saw the victim bound with rope 
at his ankles and wrists.  Offi  cers 
observed bruising on the victims 
arm and the victim told police he 
was afraid of his son.

STATUS:
Magistrated: January 7, 2022
Arraigned: 
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

RELEASED FROM PRISON

Ryan Miranda: CM0013-22
family violence

On January 7, 2022, Ryan Miranda 
was accused of jumping on his 
wife and pinning her down to 
the bed.  The two were in their 
bedroom and started arguing.  
When Miranda pinned her down, 
he punched her right arm several 
times and pulled her hair.  The vic-
tim repeatedly asked him to stop.  
Their children, K.R.M. (age 15) and 
K.M. (age 8) told police they were 
in the room and witnessed Miran-
da doing these things.  K.M. ran 
out of the room and called police.

STATUS:
Magistrated: January 8, 2022
Arraigned:
Trial has been set for June 27, 
2022 at 9:00 a.m. in front of Judge 
Alberto C. Lamorena

RELEASED FROM PRISON

Jay Peter: 
CF0018-22
aggravated assault; harassment; 
reckless driving

On January 8, 2022, Jay Peter was 
arrested after an assault com-
plaint was made outside a bar 
in Dededo.  Thomas Reyes was 
passing a bakery in Yigo when he 
saw a naked female standing out-
side of a silver truck.  Reyes pulled 
over, the female said she needed 
help, and she got into his car.  The 
victim asked Reyes to take her to 
the police station.  Peter followed 
them in a silver truck, trying to 
cut off  Reyes’s vehicle and run 
him off  the road.  Reyes pulled 
over.  Peter got out of his truck 
and yelled, “I’m going to come 
back and kill you and shoot you!”  
The victim said she was calling 
police and Peter fl ed.  The victim 
told police that as she was leaving 
the bar with Peter, an argument 
ensued and Peter had torn off  her 
clothes and kicked her out of his 
truck.

STATUS:
Magistrated: January 9, 2022
Arraigned: February 4, 2022
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

RELEASED FROM PRISON

En Urumeyang: 
CM0016-22
family violence; criminal mischief

On January 9, 2022, En Urumey-
ang was accused of returning 
to his ex-girlfriend’s house with 
her car damaged.  When the 
victim woke up Urumeyang was 
“throwing items in their bed-
room,” including a car headlight.  
The victim was unable to call the 
police because Urumeyang had 
taken her cellphone.  The next 
morning the victim woke up and 
found Urumeyang sleeping in 
her vehicle which was missing 
a headlight.  The victim tried to 
ask Urumeyang for her paycheck, 
which was in the glove compart-
ment of the car but Urumeyang 
got upset and claimed he threw 
her things onto the roadway.  
Urumeyang threatened to kill her 
and her family, so she immediate-
ly asked her daughter to call the 
cops.  Urumeyang then fl ed with 
her car.  Police found Urumeyang 
on January 11th and he admitted 
to having an argument with the 
victim but said he only took the 
vehicle so could leave and cool 
off .

STATUS:
Magistrated: January 11, 2022
Arraigned: January 26, 2022
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

INCARCERATED

Jackson J5 Siren: 
CF0023-22
aggravated assault; family violence; 

On January 11, 2022, Jackson J5 Siren 
was accused of slapping his one-year-
old child on the thigh because she was 
crying.  Jackson’s girlfriend confronted 
Jackson about hitting their child.  He 
punched her arm and told her, “shut 
up, or I’m going to kick your ass too.”  
The victim pushed Jackson, took the 
child and went outside.  As she was 
walking away Jackson grabbed her 
right shoulder and shoved her chest.  
Jackson then slapped her head and 
tried to punch her face.  The victim 
yelled for help but Jackson grabbed a 
flashlight and hit her in the forehead.  
She fell down and lost conscious-
ness.  The victim woke up to Jackson 
punching and kicking her outer thigh.  
She had a contusion to her forehead, 
a small laceration to her ankle, and 
bruising to her knee and forearm.  
Jackson told police, “She deserved it, 
she disrespected me.”  He also said he 
only punched her 3-4 times on her 
shoulders and thighs.

STATUS:
Magistrated: January 11, 2022
Arraigned:  set for 2/16/2022
No progress made.

RELEASED FROM PRISON

Anthony Timothy: 
CF0024-22
assault; criminal mischief; attempt-
ed criminal trespass; harassment

On January 11,2002, Anthony 
Timothy was accused of dam-
aging Jennifer Marinas car and 
trying to assault her boyfriend, 
Michael Herbert.  Timothy yelled, 
“What the f*** are you looking at 
nigga, I’ll fuck you up,” referring 
to Herbert.  Timothy told Marinas 
that he had damaged her vehicle.  
The car’s left and right tail light 
covers were missing and there 
were scratches to the body and 
bumper of the vehicle.  Timothy 
picked up a metal rod and swung 
but missed Marinas and Herbert.  
Timothy then tried to punch Her-
bert but none of them connected.  
A GHURA employee who had re-
sponded to the disturbance told 
police that Timothy attempted 
to enter the company vehicle the 
employee was driving.  He had to 
push him away to prevent this.  
Timothy was arrested and told 
the offi  cer he still wanted to, “f*** 
that black n***er up.”



On January 12, 2022, James 
Pillsbury was accused of forcing 
his girlfriend to the fl oor and 
sitting on her the night before.  
Pillsbury used one hand to cov-
er her mouth and choked her 
with his other hand.  The victim 
then locked Pillsbury out of the 
room.  The following morning 
an argument ensued between 
the victim’s son and Pillsbury.  
Pillsbury asked the victim’s son if 
he wanted to fi ght, grabbed his 
machete, and started swinging 
it in all directions yelling, “Fuck 
you, make me leave!  I’m gonna 
kill you!”  He also yelled, “Fuck you 
and your family!  I’m gonna kill all 
of you!  Just wait!”  The victim told 
police that she feared for her life. 

STATUS:
Magistrated: February 17, 2022
Arraigned:
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

INCARCERATED

David Santos: CM0019-22
family violence; criminal trespass

Daniel Joker: CM0020-22
family violence

Norelle Gumabon: CM0022-22
family violence

On January 12, 2022, David 
Santos was accused of approach-
ing his girlfriend while she was 
adjusting the driver’s seat and 
grabbing her around the waist 
then throwing her to the ground 
outside the vehicle.  Santos 
approached her again and the 
victim punched his face to defend 
herself.  Santos threw her to the 
ground again.  When the victim 
tried to drop Santos off  some-
where, he refused to get out of 
her vehicle so she called the cops 
and he was arrested. 

On January 15, 2022, Daniel Joker 
was accused of headbutting a 
woman known to him.  Joker and 
the victim went to do laundry 
and an argument ensued.  The 
argument continued to their resi-
dence.  The victim became fearful 
of Joker and picked up a broken 
broomstick to defend herself.  
When the victim attempted to 
push Joker away when he ap-
proached her, Joker headbutted 
her.  He also pushed her up 
against the wall.  Offi  cers noted 
that her eyes were red and watery 
and the victim told offi  cers her 
vision in her right eye was slight-
ly blurred.  She also had large 
swelling to the right corner of her 
eyebrow. 

On January 15, 2022, Norelle 
Gumabon was accused of hitting 
her boyfriend.  Gumabon was 
upset after her boyfriend put up 
a pop-up tent for a family gath-
ering and didn’t like the way he 
put it up.  Gumabon locked the 
victim out of their bedroom.  The 
victim knocked on the door to 
wake up Gumabon because he 
had to get ready for work.  Gum-
abon became upset and started 
to shove him.  She slapped his 
face and struck him with a closed 
fi st.  The victim locked himself in 
the bathroom and struck the door 
with his fi sts out of frustration.  
Offi  cers noted abrasions to the 
right side of the victim’s neck and 
rib area.  Gumabon admitted to 
striking the victim in the face and 
scratching him after he came out 
of the bathroom.

STATUS:
Magistrated: January 28, 2022
Arraigned: February 16, 2022
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

INCARCERATED
STATUS:
Magistrated: January 28, 2022
Arraigned: February 16, 2022
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

RELEASED FROM PRISON

STATUS:
Magistrated: January 16, 2022
Arraigned: 
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond her arraignment.

RELEASED FROM PRISON

James Pillsbury: CF0026-22
strangulation; terrorizing; family 
violence



Carlos Quichocho: CM0026-22
family violence

Kapriel Soram: CM0028-22
family violence; child abuse; harass-
ment 

Jetson Rano: CM0029-22
 family violence

Jaybo Aiken: CM0030-22
theft; third degree robbery; assault

On January 17, 2022, Carlos 
Quichocho was accused of head 
butting his son, causing a small 
laceration just below his right eye.  
Quichocho said he got into an ar-
gument with his son, who he felt 
was being disrespectful to him.  
Quichocho also said that he was 
so upset at his son that he did not 
think about what he was going to 
do next when he headbutted him 
in the face one time.

On January 16, 2022, Kapriel 
Soram was accused of damaging 
his father’s residence.  His father 
stated that he was scared Soram 
was going to hurt him and his 
two granddaughters.  Soram 
had been drinking and said, “I’m 
going to burn all of you and this 
house down,” then grabbed his 
father’s cane and went outside 
to swing the cane at a window.  
One of the children grabbed the 
cane and ran inside the house.  
Soram went inside and fl ipped 
the dining room table, threw food 
in the kitchen and slapped anoth-
er child on the cheek.  There was 
noticeable bruising to the child’s 
right cheek.  Both children made 
statements supporting the claim.  
Soram told offi  cers that he had 
been drinking alcohol. 

On December 24, 2021, Jetson 
Rano was accused of punching 
his girlfriend in the face because 
she wouldn’t give him money for 
the game room.  Rano was not 
apprehended until January 18, 
2022 when the victim called the 
police because Rano showed up 
to her house, woke her from her 
sleep and wanted the victim to 
go with him.  When she refused 
Rano told her that he would beat 
her up.  At that point, Rano had 
gone to his car to get an object to 
hit her with.  When police arrived 
the victim told police, “That’s him.  
That’s Jetson offi  cer.  He’s the one 
that shoved me inside the house.” 

On January 18, 2022, Jaybo Aiken 
was accused of entering a car 
parked at Ban Thai in Tumon 
and taking a phone and wallet.  
Francisco Fernandez Pastones Jr. 
went to his car and discovered 
the items were missing.  His son, 
Jeered-Alexander Allen Pastones 
tracked his father’s phone with 
“fi nd my iPhone,” and noted it was 
at the Ypao Beach Park.  They no-
ticed Aiken at the park and heard 
the phone ping from Aiken’s 
backpack.  Aiken asked them if 
they were looking for something 
and the victim told Aiken he had 
his phone.  Aiken said he got the 
phone from “a black guy behind 
Ban Thai” and tried to ride away 
on the bike.  The vitim held onto 
the bike and told Aiken to give 
his phone and wallet back. Aiken 
pulled the wallet out of his pocket 
and said, “this one?”  The victim 
reached for the wallet and Aiken 
swung at him but missed.  After 
struggling with Aiken, the victim 
and witness were able to get the 
wallet and phone back.  Aiken 
took out a knife and said, “the real 
fi ght is about to begin.”  The vic-
tim and his son retreated behind 
GVB and Aiken took off  on his 
bike.  The victim had an abrasion 
on his lower left shin and pain 
on the left shoulder.  Aiken was 
found behind Tamuning Plaza 
Hotel the same day.   

STATUS:
Magistrated: January 18, 2022
Arraigned:
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

RELEASED FROM PRISON

STATUS:
Magistrated: January 18, 2022
Arraigned: January 26, 2022
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

RELEASED FROM PRISON

STATUS:
Magistrated: January 18, 2022
Arraigned:
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

RELEASED FROM PRISON

STATUS:
Magistrated: January 19, 2022
Arraigned: February 22. 2022
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

RELEASED FROM PRISON



Simon Arriola: CM0031-22
assault; reckless conduct

On January 19, 2022, Simon 
Arriola was accused of grabbing 
a woman’s legs while she was 
seated on the fl oor of the aban-
doned Diskansa Sauna & Spa.  
The victim told Arriola to “f**k 
off ” and walked to the other side 
of the building.  Arriola followed 
the victim and her boyfriend and 
threw pieces of metal and glass 
from window toward the victim.  
One of the objects struck the left 
hand of the victim, who twisted 
her left ankle fl eeing from Arriola.  
A witness told police that Arriola 
is always drunk and chased after 
the victim, at which point, the 
witness and the victim’s boyfriend 
attempted to hold Arriola but 
he managed to fl ee.  The victim 
was experiencing pain from her 
injuries and police found a trail of 
blood throughout the scene. 

STATUS:
Magistrated: January 19. 2022
Arraigned: 
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

RELEASED FROM PRISON

Thempa Kete: CM0032-22
family violence

On January 20, 2022, Thempa 
Kete was located and arrested for 
allegations made on August 29, 
2021 when he asked his mother 
for rice.  His mother, victim 1, said 
she did not know if she had rice 
and Kete accused her of lying.  
Kete threw a plate on the ground, 
grabbed her face and applied 
pressure which caused her glass-
es to break.  Victim 1 felt pain to 
her eye.  On December 16, 2021, 
Kete’s ex-girlfriend, victim 2, told 
offi  cers that Kete went to her 
residence and asked to borrow 
money.  Victim 2 said she didn’t 
have money and Kete kicked her.  
Victim 2 blocked a kick with her 
hand.  Kete and his ex-girlfriend 
have three children together.  
On November 11, 2021, victim 
3 called police after Kete asked 
victim 3 for food and she told him 
to check her husband.  Kete got 
upset and punched her in the 
nose, causing her nose to bleed 
onto her skirt. 

STATUS:
Magistrated: January 20, 2022
Arraigned: February 25, 2022
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

RELEASED FROM PRISON

Dante Buensucesco Jr: 
CM0035-22
Terrorizing, family violence as a 
third degree felony and as a misde-
meanor, possession of a schedule II 
controlled substance, unauthorized 
use of an automobile, violation of a 
court order

On January 12, 2022, Dante 
Buensucesco Jr was accused of 
taking his girlfriend’s rental car 
without her permission after an 
argument.  During the argument, 
Buensucesco placed both his 
hands on his girlfriend’s neck and 
shoved her multiple times before 
driving off  in the Yaris.  On Janu-
ary 20, 2022, Buensucesco kicked 
his girlfriend’s front door of her 
residence and threatened her 
with a knife.  When Buensucesco 
kicked open the door he said, “Do 
you wanna see me fucken mad!”  
Buensucesco then threatened 
to kill her dog fi rst and then kill 
her.  The victim ran out of the 
residence yelling for help and 
saw a neighbor who called police.  
Buensucesco was found under-
neath the kitchen sink.  When 
asked about the incident that 
occurred with the victim, Buensu-
cesco claimed he was being bit-
ten by the victim’s dog and so he 
got a knife and chased the dog. 

STATUS:
Magistrated: January 20, 2022
Arraigned: February 02, 2022
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

RELEASED FROM PRISON

Christian Reyes: CM0033-22
assault; harassment

On January 21, 2022, Christian 
Reyes was accused of threatening 
his friends, taking an aggressive 
stance while clenching his fi sts.  
One of his fi sts was clenching an 
ice pipe so one of his friends told 
him to leave and threatened to 
call the police.  Reyes went back 
some time later and yelled from 
the roadway that he was going to 
beat one of the friends up.  The 
victim told police he feared for his 
safety.  Reyes, when located later, 
denied making threats toward the 
victim. 

STATUS:
Magistrated: January 21, 2022
Arraigned: January 28, 2022
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

INCARCERATED



Polina Kareva: 
CF0037-22
family violence

Anthony Gogue: 
CM0036-22
family violence

Jaytwo Joseph: 
CM0036-22
family violence

GREG SAMUEL: 
CM0038-22
aggravated assault; assault

On January 21, 2022, Polina Kare-
va was accused of trying to choke 
her husband, hit him, and cut him 
with a knife in the shoulder while 
he was in the bathroom.  Kareva 
was found in the bathroom and a 
knife was in the sink.

On January 23, 2022, Anthony 
Gogue was accused of pushing 
or grabbing his wife from be-
hind, causing the front of her 
body to be slammed into a ve-
hicle.  Gogue then grabbed her 
again, slamming her head into 
the ground and the right side of 
her body onto gravel.  When the 
victim’s son intervened, Gogue 
put him in a chokehold until his 
wife called police.  The victim had 
bruising to her right bicep area, 
abrasions to her right and left 
elbow, and abrasions to her right 
knee.  There was redness to the 
victim’s right and left forearms, an 
abrasion and swelling to her right 
side rib area, approximately fi ve 
inches in length, and redness to 
the right side of the victim’s neck.

On January 23, 2022, Jaytwo 
Joseph was accused of grab-
bing a pipe and swinging it in 
an attempt to hit or scare peo-
ple.  Joseph’s father grabbed the 
pipe away from him.  Joseph 
then punched his father on his 
left shoulder.  When police were 
called, Joseph drove off  in a gray 
Camry.

On January 23, 2022, Greg Samuel 
was accused of approaching Greg 
Samuel was accused of approach-
ing James Samuel with a small 
axe underneath his shirt, pullingit 
out and swinging it at him.  James 
ran from Greg but fell over.  The 
two began to fi ght when a wit-
ness came and took the axe away 
and separated the two.  The wit-
ness then called police.

STATUS:
Magistrated: January 21, 2022
Arraigned: February 16, 2022
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond her arraignment.

RELEASED FROM PRISON

STATUS:
Magistrated: January 23, 2022
Arraigned: 
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

RELEASED FROM PRISON

STATUS:
Magistrated: January 23, 2022
Arraigned: February 22, 2022
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

RELEASED FROM PRISON

STATUS:
Magistrated: January 23, 2022
Arraigned: February 02, 2022
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

INCARCERATED



On January 23, 2022, Teran Year 
was accused of throwing a rock 
to a passing vehicle.  The driver of 
the vehicle stopped to confront 
Year, who struck the driver in 
the face with a rock.  The driver, 
victim 1, sustained a two-inch lac-
eration above his right eyebrow 
area.  The injury was bleeding 
profusely and visibly swelling.  An 
ambulance transported the driver 
to GRMC.  Victim 2 reported that 
he was monitoring surveillance 
video from inside Macheche Plaza 
and saw Year and a female walk 
up to his parked truck and wit-
nessed Year kick the side of the 
truck and strike the front wind-
shield with his hand.  The truck’s 
windshield was cracked and his 
antenna was loose.  Year admitted 
to throwing a rock at victim 1’s 
vehicle.  He stated that he didn’t 
remember hitting victim 1 but 
that he was sorry that he hurt 
him.  Year also admitted to hitting 
the front windshield of victim 2.

On January 24, 2022, Albert Wells 
was accused of punching his girl-
friend with a closed fi st on the left 
side of her face fi ve times.  Wells 
then kicked her in the stomach 
and took their one-year-old son 
and left.  The vitim had noticeable 
bruising, swelling, and redness to 
her left cheek as well as redness 
to her nose and forehead.  Wells 
caused the victim’s nose to bleed 
and complained of pain to her 
abdomen.

On January 25, 2022, Rocky 
Suzuki was accused ofhitting his 
girlfriend all over her body with 
a slipper.  Suzuki also threw an 
empty half gallon plastic bottle of 
juice at the victim then grabbed 
a kitchen knife and threatened 
the victim, “If you run, I’ll killyou!”  
Suzuki and the victim’s fi ve mi-
nor children were present in the 
room at the time of the incident.  
Their mother, the victim, ran out 
of the hotel room and out of an 
emergency exit stairway.  Suzuki 
chased the victim but she went to 
the hotel lobby to get help.  The 
victim had swelling to her fore-
arm, abrasions to her forearms, 
scratches on her arms and legs, 
and bruising to both knees.  Their 
10-year-old son corroborated his 
mother’s sequence of events.

On June 24, 2021, Terry Lane was 
accused of swinging a 3-foot can-
opy pipe at victim 1 at the victim’s 
Agat residence.  Victim 1 blocked 
the pipe with his  forearm and 
dodged a second strike.  The two 
began to scuffl  e and the fi ght was 
broken up.  Lane admitted that 
he attacked and punched victim 
1 but denied using a pipe.  On 
January 25, 2022, Lane was ac-
cused of punching his two minor 
nephews while Lane was sitting in 
the front seat of a vehicle and the 
victims’ were seated in the back.  
Victim 2, age 12, was punched in 
the face and got out of the vehi-
cle to tell his mother that Lane 
had punched him.  Victim 3, age 
13, told police Lane hit him in 
the head.  Victim 2 had redness, 
bruising, and swelling to his face.  
Lane told police he was tired of 
the boys being disrespectful.

Teran Year: CF0040-22
aggravated assault; criminal mis-
chief to a motor vehicle; reckless 
conduct

Albert Wells: CM0040-22
family violence

Rocky Suzuki: CF0041-22
family violence; terrorizing

Terry Lane: CF0043-22
aggravated assault, family violence, 
child abuse

STATUS:
Magistrated: January 23, 2022
Arraigned: February 02, 2022
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

INCARCERATED

STATUS:
Magistrated: January 24, 2022
Arraigned: 
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

RELEASED FROM PRISON

STATUS:
Magistrated: January 25, 2022
Arraigned: February 16, 2022
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

RELEASED FROM PRISON

STATUS:
Magistrated: January 25, 2022
Arraigned: 
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

RELEASED FROM PRISON



Joseph Topasna: CF0044-22
burglary, assault, criminal trespass, 
criminal mischief, harassment

On November 3, 2021, Joseph 
Topasna was accused of running 
from the roadway and attempting 
to barge into a house.  The own-
er of the residence, along with 
her family members, including 
her children, tried to hold the 
door closed.  Topasna pushed 
his way through the door with 
such force that the door slammed 
against the wall and made a 
hole.  Topasna then banged on 
the childrens’ room door but the 
children had locked the door.  
Topasna was yelling and went 
to the bathroom door where 
another household member had 
locked himself in because Topas-
na had been violent towards him 
before.  Topasna kicked the door 
repeatedly until his sister showed 
up and convinced him to leave 
the residence.  Family members, 
including the children, all con-
fi rmed the sequence of events.  
Topasna was located in relation to 
another case.  He was questioned 
and admitted to what happened 
because he was angry.  He also 
stated that he was angry at the 
household member that locked 
himself in the bathroom because 
he thought he was not being 
sympathetic towards Topasna’s 
emotional state.  

STATUS:
Magistrated: January 25, 2022
Arraigned: 
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

INCARCERATED

Matthew Salas: CF0045-22
aggravated assault

On January 26, 2022, Matthew 
Salas was accused of striking his 
uncle in the shoulder with a meat 
cleaver after telling him, “My 
grandma don’t want you here!”  
Police spoke with a minor witness 
who corroborated the uncle’s 
statement.  Salas denied having a 
weapon but did tell his uncle he 
needed to leave.

STATUS:
Magistrated: January 26, 2022
Arraigned: January 28, 2022
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

INCARCERATED

Jaxdino Kose: CF0046-22
ssault on a peace offi  cer, attempted 
criminal trespass, criminal mischief, 
resisting arrest, harassment, public 
drunkenness

On January 25, 2022, Jaxdino Kose 
was accused of following a woman 
and her son walking passed him, 
returning home from the store.  Kose 
yelled out, “Come over here.”  The 
woman grabbed her son’s hand and 
walked faster.  Kose yelled, “You bet-
ter fucking stop.”  When she reached 
her home, she saw her neighbor 
talking to Kose.  Her neighbor told 
police that he and his brother were 
outside with his brother’s co-worker.  
Kose walked up to them and asked 
them where he could “Bud,” referring 
to marijuana.  The co-worker left and 
the neighbor and his brother went 
into their house.  Kose demanded 
that they let him in, banging on the 
front door.  After trying to open the 
front door, which was locked, Kose 
tried to go through the windows, 
including the window of their sister’s 
bedroom, which he damaged in 
the process.  The neighbor’s brother 
called the police and went outside 
to restrain Kose until the police 
arrived.  When offi  cers tried to arrest 
Kose he said, “F**k you offi  cer, you 
think you’re badass.”  Police used 
their taser on Kose and arrested him.  
Kose tried to pull away from the 
offi  cers saying, “F**k you offi  cer,” and 
fell to the ground.  Kose attempted 
to head butt the offi  cers and when 
he was placed in the car, he kicked 
the door, spat on the back seat door 
handle, and spat through the divider 
separating the back and front seats.  
Offi  cers told Kose to stop spitting 
due to COVID-19 and Kose said, “F**k 
Covid-19, I hope you catch it.”

STATUS:
Magistrated: January 25, 2022
Arraigned: February 23, 2022
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

RELEASED FROM PRISON

Daniel Davis: CF0048-22
Aggravated assault, family vio-
lence as a felony, strangulation, 
two counts of family violence as a 
misdemeanor, child abuse

On September 24, 2021, Daniel 
Davis was accused of walking up 
behind his girlfriend, pulling her 
hair and slapping her face.  Davis 
then dragged her by her hair to 
their bedroom.  The victim’s son 
told Davis to leave his mother 
alone and Davis struck him in 
the face causing a bloody nose.  
Davis then left the residence.  
On November 16, 2021, Davis 
woke up and began yelling at 
his girlfriends’ children for be-
ing too loud.  Davis followed his 
girlfriend into the bedroom and 
punched her on the face until 
she blacked out.  The victim woke 
up and screamed for help.  While 
the victim was on the fl oor, Davis 
began stomping on the back 
of her head, causing her head 
to bounce off  the ground.  The 
victim’s daughter came to the 
room and the victim yelled to call 
police.  Davis then grabbed a pil-
low and placed it over the victim’s 
head until her daughter was on 
the phone with police.  The victim 
had redness and swelling to the 
bottom and top lip, swelling to 
her left forehead and left eye.

STATUS:
Magistrated: January 26, 2022
Arraigned: 
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

RELEASED FROM PRISON



Ludwig Uhmeyer: CM0043-22
fourth degree criminal sexual con-
duct

On July 1, 2021, Ludwig Uhmeyer 
was accused of grabbing a wom-
an’s right breast as she was walk-
ing out of the female restaurant 
at an establishment in Tumon, 
Guam.  

STATUS:
Magistrated: January 28, 2022
Arraigned: February 23, 2022
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

RELEASED FROM PRISON

Michelle Del Rosario: 
CM0042-22
family violence

On January 28, 2022, Michelle Del 
Rosario was accused of slapping 
her boyfriend, scratching his 
face, biting his left ear, left elbow, 
and chest area because he woke 
her up.  Del Rosario said, “it was 
okay because she always hits him 
when they argue and that it was 
normal.”  The victim had what 
appeared to be dried blood in his 
left ear, scratches to his face, bite 
marks to his chest, left elbow, and 
old scars and black bruising/bite 
marks in his chest and abdominal 
area.

STATUS:
Magistrated: January 28, 2022
Arraigned: February 02, 2022
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

RELEASED FROM PRISON

A warrant of arrest has been 
issued by Magistrate Judge 
Jonathan Quan for violating 
the conditions of her release.

Jacob Danis: CF0050-22
terrorizing, resisting arrest, family 
violence

On January 28, 2022, Jacob Danis 
was accused of banging on his 
neighbor’s door threatening to 
kill him.  The victim told police 
that he is afraid for his safety.  
When the offi  cers went to arrest 
Danis, he opened the door stand-
ing in a confronational stance 
while clenching his fi sts.  He 
refused to cooperate and offi  cers 
tasered Danis to gain compliance 
and arrest him.  On July 21, 2021, 
Danis was accused of punching 
his sister in the face after throw-
ing an empty butane can at her.  
The injuries were consistent with 
what Danis’s sister and mother 
told police.

STATUS:
Magistrated: January 28, 2022
Arraigned: February 25, 2022
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

RELEASED FROM PRISON

Joseph Jones Villagomez: 
CM0045-22
family violence

On January 29, 2022, Joseph Vil-
lagomez was accused of throwing 
a glass which broke while arguing 
with his girlfriend.  Later, Villago-
mez said, “I’ll punch your face in if 
I catch you doing stuff  like f*****g 
around.”  The victim reported that 
Villagomez continued to call her 
derogatory names before push-
ing her multiple times.  He then 
pushed her with enough force 
that she fell and the right side of 
her head hit against a black box.  
The victim stood up, pushed him 
out of the bedroom before she 
ran to her son’s residence to call 
police.

STATUS:
Magistrated: January 29, 2022
Arraigned: February 17, 2022
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

RELEASED FROM PRISON



Paulino Wallipy: 
CM0047-22
family violence

On January 31, 2022, Teresa 
Douglas was accused of chasing 
her daughters around the house, 
hitting them with a hanger about 
10 to 12 times, dragging one of 
them out of the back door and 
choking her.  There were red 
marks along one of the girls left 
hands, arm, right calf and leg.

STATUS:
Magistrated: January 31, 2022
Arraigned: February 18, 2022
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

RELEASED FROM PRISON

Teresa James Douglas: 
CM0046-22
family violence; child abuse

On January 31, 2022, Paulino 
Wallipy was accused of dragging 
his wife out of their car.  Wallipy 
grabbed her by her hair and 
forcefully yanked her hair trying 
to drage her out of the car.  His 
wife reported pain to the back of 
her head.

STATUS:
Magistrated: January 31, 2022
Arraigned: 
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

RELEASED FROM PRISON

Bundy Paul Billyos: 
CM0049-22
assault, violation of a court order, 
criminal trespass, harassment

On February 1, 2022, Bundy 
Billyos was accused of harassing 
customers and a waitress at Den-
ny’s in Tamuning.  Billyos yelled 
at the waitress, “Do you want me 
to wreck your face?”  He repeat-
edly yelled “f**k you,” at her.  He 
was previously banned from the 
property and warned not to enter 
the restaurant’s property.

STATUS:
Magistrated: February 1, 2022
Arraigned: February 16, 2022
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

RELEASED FROM PRISON

Timothy McDermott Jr.: 
CF0056-22
Interfering with the reporting of 
family violence, criminal mischief 
as a felony and as a misdemean-
or, family violence as a felony and 
misdemeanor, harassment

On November 25, 2021, Timothy 
McDermott was accused of as-
saulting his mother and another 
household member.  McDermott 
approached his mother, grabbed 
her by the t-shirt, then pushed 
his fi st into her chest area.  His 
mother told him to leave the 
house and grabbed her phone 
to call the police.  McDermott 
grabbed the cellphone out of 
her hand, threw it on the ground 
and repeatedly stomped on the 
phone with his foot.  The other 
household member tried to in-
tervene and McDermott grabbed 
her face and applied pressure to 
one of her eyes.  On January 31, 
2022, McDermott was accused of 
demanding to use his mother’s 
vehicle.  When she refused, he 
yelled, “F*****g b***h let me use 
the car.”  The other household 
member reported hearing loud 
banging noises coming from 
where McDermott’s mother had 
parked her vehicle.  Offi  cers noted 
damages to the rear left corner of 
the vehicle’s body.  When McDer-
mott was being transported, he 
said that he wanted his mother 
to take him to get vape juice and 
also said, “But it’s okay, I shouldn’t 
have acted that way.”

STATUS:
Magistrated: February 1, 2022
Arraigned: February 23, 2022
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

RELEASED FROM PRISON



Kenny Quinata: CF0058-22
attempted burglary, family vio-
lence, criminal mischief as a felony, 
criminal mischief 

On January 30, 2022, Shane 
Aguon was accused of being in-
volved in a riot in Umatac.  Aguon 
punched a woman known to him 
multiple times.  Aguon, along 
with other individuals, attempted 
to enter a home to continue the 
altercation.

STATUS:
Magistrated: February 1, 2022
Reindicted: February 22, 2022
Arraigned: February 22, 2022
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

RELEASED FROM PRISON

Shane Aguon: CF0058-22 
attempted burglary, aggravated 
assault; assault

On January 30, 2022, Jeff rey and 
Kenny Quinata were accused of 
being involved in a riot in Uma-
tac.  Witnesses reported seeing 
Jeff rey and Kenny drag a man and 
repeatedly punch his face and 
body while he was lying on the 
ground.  Jeff rey and Kenny also 
picked up fi shing rods and reels 
that belonged to the victims and 
used the itmes to damage the vic-
tims vehicles.  Jeff rey and Kenny 
also used a metal chair to smash 
the victims windows, attempting 
to enter their home.  The victim 
had spinal fl uid leaking from his 
ear, a bite mark on his left bicep, 
scratches on his head, back, and 
neck, and his entire facial area 
was swollen.  

STATUS:
Magistrated: February 1, 2022
Arraigned: February 23, 2022
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

RELEASED FROM PRISON

Jeffrey Quinata: CF0058-22
attempted burglary, family vio-
lence, criminal mischief as a felony, 
criminal mischief 

On January 30, 2022, Jeff rey and 
Kenny Quinata were accused of 
being involved in a riot in Uma-
tac.  Witnesses reported seeing 
Jeff rey and Kenny drag a man and 
repeatedly punch his face and 
body while he was lying on the 
ground.  Jeff rey and Kenny also 
picked up fi shing rods and reels 
that belonged to the victims and 
used the itmes to damage the vic-
tims vehicles.  Jeff rey and Kenny 
also used a metal chair to smash 
the victims windows, attempting 
to enter their home.  The victim 
had spinal fl uid leaking from his 
ear, a bite mark on his left bicep, 
scratches on his head, back, and 
neck, and his entire facial area 
was swollen.  

STATUS:
Magistrated: February 1, 2022
Arraigned: February 23, 2022
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

RELEASED FROM PRISON

Henry Crudup: CF0059-22
aggravated assault, criminal mis-
chief, family violence, harassment

On January 24, 2022, Henry Crud-
up was accused of damaging a 
living room window belonging to 
a woman known to him.  Crudup 
was yelling at his ex-girlfriend 
who was inside the house, “You 
better come with me or I’ll drag 
you out!  You owe me money!”  
The woman inside the house 
told Crudup to leave and Crudup 
said that he has people who will 
come over and take all of them 
out.  That is when Crudup used 
his metal cane to shatter the glass 
of the window.  One of the shat-
tered glass pieces struck and cut 
his ex-girlfriend’s right knee.  On 
January 31, 2022, Crudup had an 
argument with a man known to 
him and as the man started to 
walk away, he was struck in the 
arm by Crudup four times with a 
cane.  The man sustained a bone 
fracture from the assault.  

STATUS:
Magistrated: February 1, 2022
Arraigned: February 23, 2022
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

RELEASED FROM PRISON



Eric Duenas: CF0064-22
criminal mischief, possession of a 
schedule II controlled substance, 
family violence, harassmentOn January 31, 2022, Jay Jay 

Tamngug was accused of punch-
ing his girlfriend’s son on the face 
the month prior, causing it to 
swell.  The boy’s mother report-
ed that two days prior, Tamngug 
had kneed her in the face and 
later that night slapped her and 
punched her on the face as well.  
On January 30, 2022, Tamngug 
and his girlfriend’s son had been 
running around playing when 
Tamngug got up and beat the 
boy with a wooden spatula and 
then kicked him in the face, 
walked away and returned to kick 
the boy again.  The boy’s mother 
was able to provid video footage 
showing Tamngug beating the 
child numerous times.  The boy 
had redness with two impressions 
on the left side of his face.

STATUS:
Magistrated: February 1, 2022
Arraigned: February 16, 2022
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

INCARCERATED

Jay Jay Tamngug: CF0060-22
child abuse; family violence

On February 2, 2022, Eric Duenas 
was accused of damaging his girl-
friend’s vehicle.  A week prior his 
girlfriend told Duenas he was no 
longer allowed at her residence.  
Duenas showed up again and did 
not want to leave so his girlfriend 
got into her car but as she tried 
to move her car to the front of 
the house, she heard a loud bang 
to the rear right passenger door.  
She then saw Duenas go to the 
front passenger door and use a 
metal pipe to hit the window.  Of-
fi cers noted several dents to the 
right rear passenger window.  Du-
enas then jumped into his truck 
and drove away.  When Duenas 
was located, he told the offi  cer, 
“Sir I fell down to the gournd 
after hitting my girlfriend’s car,” 
explaining the injury to his elbow.  
When checking Duenas’ bag for 
his driver’s license, the police offi  -
cer found methamphetamine in a 
plastic container.  

STATUS:
Magistrated: February 2, 2022
Arraigned: February 25, 2022
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

RELEASED FROM PRISON

Alex Munoz: CF0067-22
burglary, theft of property, theft by 
receiving, assault on a peace offi  cer

On February 1, 2022, Alex Mu-
noz was accused of burglarizing 
someone’s home on January 27, 
2022, and taking their car keys to 
steal the vehicle later on.  Munoz 
was found later with the vehicle 
in his possession.  As offi  cers 
attempted to arrest Munoz, he 
kicked one of the offi  cers in the 
leg.  Munoz then picked up a 
volleyball sized rock and tried to 
throw it at the offi  cer.  The offi  cer 
was limping and had swelling and 
abrasions on his right knee. 

STATUS:
Magistrated: February 2, 2022
Indicted: February 23, 2022
Arraigned: 
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

RELEASED FROM PRISON

Roland Soriano: 
CF0069-22
fi rst degree criminal sexual conduct, 
second degree criminal sexual con-
duct, third degree criminal sexual 
conduct, fourth degree criminal 
sexual conduct

On January 11, 2022, Roland 
Soriano was accused of touching 
a girl that was in eighth grade 
sometime in 2018.  The girl told 
police she was sleeping and 
awoke to Soriano pulling aside 
her shorts and inserting his fi nger 
in her vagina.  Soriano realized 
she was awake and apologized, 
saying that he would leave if 
the girl wanted him to.  The girl 
immediately told her brother and 
later told her mother but she did 
not alert authorities.

STATUS:
Magistrated: February 2, 2022
Arraigned: 
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

RELEASED FROM PRISON



Pryan Pastor Andrew: 
CF0070-22
aggravated assault, criminal mis-
chief

On January 11, 2022, Peter 
Ojeda was accused of giving a 
16-year-old girl three smirnoff  
wine coolers and touching her 
while she was sitting on his bed.  
Ojeda started rubbing the girl’s 
inner thigh and told her she was 
prettty.  The girl said Ojeda start-
ed rubbing her vagina over her 
clothing and attempted to kiss 
the girl who was able to get away 
and call a relative to pick her up.

STATUS:
Magistrated: February 03, 2022
Arraigned: February 24, 2022
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

RELEASED FROM PRISON

Peter Ojeda: CM0050-22
fourth degree criminal sexual con-
duct; harassment

On December 18, 2021, Pryan 
Andrew was accused of hitting 
a student at George Washington 
High School with brass knuck-
les that had pointy tips on the 
knuckle area which caused the 
student to receive 3-5 stitches on 
his head.  Andrew yelled, “Look 
at this,” while raising his hands.  
Another boy started punching 
the student as well and Andrew 
started stomping on the student 
with his foot.  Andrew admitted 
to striking the student and even-
tually admitted to using the brass 
knuckles.  On a separate occasion 
on February 3, 2022, Andrew 
damaged Department of Parks 
and Recreation property in Aga-
na Heights when he kicked the 
typhoon shutters and removed 
the yellow rubber parking stall 
stoppers out of place.  There were 
shoe mud markings and smudges 
on the typhoon shutters.

STATUS:
Magistrated: February 04, 2022
Arraigned: 
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

RELEASED FROM PRISON

Roman Alvarez: CF0078-22
aggravated assault, resisting arrest

On February 6, 2022, Roman Al-
varez was accused of hitting Baby 
Joe Taimanglo with his car after 
the two men had gotten into a 
fi ght at a bar in Tumon.  Alvarez 
then left the scene and parked his 
car across the street.  When police 
arrested Alvarez he refused to co-
operate and offi  cers used a taser 
to get Alvarez under control.

STATUS:
Magistrated: February 07, 2022
Arraigned: 
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

RELEASED FROM PRISON

Roy Ausec: CF0080-22
terrorizing; family violence; harass-
ment

On February 6, 2022, Roy Ausec 
was accused of harassing his sister 
via text messages.  Ausec’s sister 
had reported him to the police on 
November 30, 2021 while living at 
her previous residence in Dededo.  
Ausec had showed up yelling and 
breaking items in the house.  Ausec 
yelled, You’re going to die!” Ausec’s 
sister was in fear for her life and went 
to stay at a hotel until she found a 
place to rent.  On February 5, 2022, 
Ausec called her phone threatening 
her, saying that if he fi nds her, he 
is going to hurt her bad.  The vic-
tim blocked his number and Ausec 
started texting his sister’s son’s 
phone.  The text message said that 
he promises to physically hurt his 
nephew’s mother and that he will 
be surprised if she lives.  Ausec also 
said that he doesn’t give a f**k if he 
overdoes the physical harm and she 
dies.  When the police picked Aus-
ec up, he admitted to sending the 
threatening messages and showed 
offi  cers a couple messages that read, 
“I am going to beat the shit out of 
you,” and, “You’re right, I smoke ice, 
drink, tobacco, I keep forgetting that 
I’m going to kill you.”  Ausec said that 
he threatened the victim because he 
felt that his sister was robbing him 
of his entitlements from his father’s 
death and that he thinks his sister 
is trying to steal their father’s house 
and that he only terrorized his sister 
to get a response from her because 
she was ignoring him.

STATUS:
Magistrated: February 08, 2022
Arraigned: 
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

RELEASED FROM PRISON



Clarissa Romolor: CM0051-22
child abuse; family violence

On February 7, 2022, Gregorio 
and Marcelina Romolor were 
accused of child abuse.  Gregorio 
Romolor threw scissors to one of 
the children, causing a scar in the 
palm area of her right hand and 
punched her face with a closed 
fi st.  A witness was present at the 
time of the incident.  On a later 
date, Gregorio accused one of 
Marcelina Gregorio’s children of 
taking money from him.  Gregorio 
punched her in the face at least 
twice and said, “If you don’t tell 
me where it is, I’m going to break 
your face.”  Another incident oc-
curred where Gregorio punched 
another child in the face because 
she had told family members that 
her siblings and she were being 
abused.  Marcelina was present 
and did nothing.  Gregorio also 
kicked a third child in the shin 
area with his work boot which 
caused severe bruising which 
was still visible during the police 
interview.  The child was also 
grabbed by her jaw and Gregorio 
squeezed it tightly causing pain 
to the child and she started to cry.  
He then poked her thigh with a 
car key.  One of the children stat-
ed that the abuse had been going 
on for over nine to ten years and 
that Gregorio would use anything 
within his reach such as mops and 
brooms to hit them with.

STATUS:
Magistrated: February 09, 2022
Arraigned: February 22, 2022
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

RELEASED FROM PRISON

Gregorio Romolor: CM0051-22
child abuse; family violence

Benjamin Norita: CF0085-22
fi rst degree criminal sexual con-
duct; second degree criminal sexual 
conduct

On February 7, 2022, Benjamin 
Norita was accused of touch-
ing a female minor known to 
him on several occassions.  The 
victim told police that the inci-
dents began happening at the 
beginning of lockdown which 
was about March 2020 where he 
only touched her chest at fi rst.  
About fi ve to six months later he 
started touching her vagina.  Two 
months passed and Norita started 
to touch her again.  Norita then 
explained that he had sex with 
his penis and her vagina three 
times during the pandemic and 
also used his hand to go inside 
her vagina and would also lick her 
vagina.  Norita told police that 
he “disrespected” the victim and 
that he had touched her butt and 
breasts.  He also licked her all over 
but denied having sex with her.  
Norita told police whatever the 
victim stated was the truth and 
he will agree with it.

STATUS:
Magistrated: February 09, 2022
Arraigned: 
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

INCARCERATED

Mac Junior Alipich: 
CF0087-22
terrorizing; family violence; harass-
ment

On February 8, 2022, Mac Alipich 
was accused of stealing a blue tooth 
speaker and cell phone and when 
the victim attempted to retrieve the 
stolen items, Alipich turned around 
with a machete in his hand and 
struck the victim in the back with the 
machete.  

STATUS:
Magistrated: February 09, 2022
Arraigned: 
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

RELEASED FROM PRISON

On February 7, 2022, Gregorio 
and Marcelina Romolor were 
accused of child abuse.  Gregorio 
Romolor threw scissors to one of 
the children, causing a scar in the 
palm area of her right hand and 
punched her face with a closed 
fi st.  A witness was present at the 
time of the incident.  On a later 
date, Gregorio accused one of 
Marcelina Gregorio’s children of 
taking money from him.  Gregorio 
punched her in the face at least 
twice and said, “If you don’t tell 
me where it is, I’m going to break 
your face.”  Another incident oc-
curred where Gregorio punched 
another child in the face because 
she had told family members that 
her siblings and she were being 
abused.  Marcelina was present 
and did nothing.  Gregorio also 
kicked a third child in the shin 
area with his work boot which 
caused severe bruising which 
was still visible during the police 
interview.  The child was also 
grabbed by her jaw and Gregorio 
squeezed it tightly causing pain 
to the child and she started to cry.  
He then poked her thigh with a 
car key.  One of the children stat-
ed that the abuse had been going 
on for over nine to ten years and 
that Gregorio would use anything 
within his reach such as mops and 
brooms to hit them with.

STATUS:
Magistrated: February 09, 2022
Arraigned: 
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

RELEASED FROM PRISON



Dwayne Reyes: CF0090-22
strangulation; family violence

On February 9, 2022, Anthony 
Dilla was accused of choking his 
girlfriend in front of their six-year-
old daughter.  Their daughter also 
said he punched her mother four 
to fi ve times.

STATUS:
Magistrated: February 10, 2022
Arraigned: 
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

RELEASED FROM PRISON

Anthony Dilla: CF0091-22
strangulation; family violence

Jonny Ngiraibuuch: 
CM0054-22
family violence; attempted assault

On February 9, 2022, Jonny Ngira-
ibuuch was accused of punching 
his girlfriend in the face while 
holding their 8-month-old daugh-
ter.  Offi  cers noted that her entire 
nose was red and that the right 
portion of her jaw was red.

STATUS:
Magistrated: February 10, 2022
Arraigned: 
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

RELEASED FROM PRISON

Dean Santos: CM0055-22
family violence

On February 10, 2022, Dean Santos 
was accused of striking his father-
in-law in the face twice with his fi st.  
The victim complained of pain to 
his face but did not want medical 
assistance.  

STATUS:
Magistrated: February 11, 2022
Arraigned: February 22, 2022
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

INCARCERATED

On February 9, 2022, Dwayne 
Reyes was accused of kneeing his 
girlfriend in the face, choking her, 
and  using a rolled up banner to 
hit her on the arm and leg.  The 
girlfriend had abrasions to one of 
her eyes and bruising on her right 
leg.  Reyes admitted to police that 
he hit her, choked her, and went 
to sleep to cool off .

STATUS:
Magistrated: February 10, 2022
Arraigned: 
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

INCARCERATED



Ryan Cepeda:   CF0093-22
family violence; aggravated assault

On February 9, 2022, Ryan Cepe-
da was accused of grabbing his 
brother’s crutch and striking the 
right side of his neck. Cepeda 
then punched his brother times 
in the face. The victim lost con-
sciousness momentarily while 
being punched in the face. A 
witness, the Cepeda brothers’ 
nephew, told offi  cers that he wit-
nessed the assault and grabbed a 
machete to fend off  Cepeda. The 
victim’s mouth was bleeding from 
being punched and he had swell-
ing on the right side of his face as 
well as a puncture type wound on 
the lower left side of his inner lip.

STATUS:
Magistrated: February 10, 2022
Arraigned: 
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

RELEASED FROM PRISON

Christian Medina: CF0094-22
family violence; terrorizing; criminal
tresspass; harassment

Jacob Ngirangeang: CF0098-22
fi rst degree criminal sexual conduct; 
attempted fi rst degree criminal sex-
ual conduct; second degree crimi-
nal sexual conduct; possession of 
a schedule II controlled substance, 
destruction of evidence

Tomnor Lorenzo: CM0057-22
family violence

On December 12, 2021, Christian 
Medina was accused of showing 
up to his ex-wife’s home uninvited 
and threatening her saying, “I’m 
going to get answers from you, 
you’re going to pay for it.” Medina 
took fi ve bullets out of his pocket 
and when his ex-wife asked him 
if he was threatening her, he said, 
“You take it how you want it.” The 
victim’s 14-year-old daughter told 
police that she heard Medina tell 
her mother, “I’m going to kill you.” 
Medina was found on February 
10, 2022 with a black BB gun and 
thirteen 9mm Luger pistol bullets 
in his vehicle.

On February 12, 2022, Jacob 
Ngirangeang was accused of 
attempting to rape an 11-year-
old girl known to him.  The victim 
reported that she had woken up 
and gone to the restroom.  As she 
passed Ngirangeang’s bedroom 
she saw him looking at her and 
touching his penis.  Later, Ngi-
rangeang went into the kitchen 
where she was sitting at the table 
and said to her, “When you’re 
done go into the room or else 
I’m going to hurt grandma.”  Out 
of fear because he would hurt 
her too, she went to his room 
and when she would not pull 
her pants down as he asked, he 
pulled her pants down for her.  
Ngirangeang then started touch-
ing her inappropriately, licking 
her, and attempted to penetrate 
her.  A witness came into the 
room and the victim was about 
to cry.  When police arrived at the 
residence they found drugs on 
Ngirangeang.  Ngirangeang told 
offi  cers that the victim came into 
his bedroom and they sat on his 
bed.  Ngirangeang admitted that 
he licked the victim’s genital area 
and touched it with his hands but 
denied trying to penetrate the 
victim.

On February 13, 2022, Tomnor 
Lorenzo was accused of punching 
his girlfriend on her left thigh.  Lo-
renzo also punched her left arm.  
The victim reported pain where 
he had punched her.  When police 
arrested Lorenzo he asked, “Why 
did she call the cops?”  Lorenzo 
also said, “I did not do anything, I 
just did this,” and motioned with 
his right hand that he had only 
slapped her.

STATUS:
Magistrated: February 11, 2022
Arraigned: 
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

INCARCERATED

STATUS:
Magistrated: February 12, 2022
Arraigned: 
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

INCARCERATED

STATUS:
Magistrated: February 14, 2022
Arraigned: 
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

RELEASED FROM PRISON



Bernos Peiof: CM0058-22
family violence;  assault,; resisting 
arrest

Robert Narruhn: CF0101-22
burglary; third degree criminal 
sexual conduct

Jimmy LG Topasna: 
CF0103-22
fi rst degree criminal sexual conduct 

Hunter Jesus Reyes: CF105-
22
Third degree criminal sexual con-
duct

On February 12, 2022, Bernos 
Peiof was accused of grabbing 
his girlfriend’s hair and slapping 
her face. The victim’s nose began 
to bleed. Peiof also damaged 
item’s in the house, including a 
fl at screen t.v. Offi  cer’s noted the 
victim had dried red substance, 
which appeared to be blood on 
her nose, mouth and chin. She 
also had redness in her right 
eye and complained of pain to 
the right side of her face. When 
offi  cers arrested Peiof, he pulled 
his arm away and tried to run. 
Offi  cer’s were eventually able to 
subdue and arrest him.

On Februry 15, 2022, Robby 
Narruhn was accused of enter-
ing a home through a window, 
bending the window cover in half 
and moving a computer moniter 
from a desk to the fl oor. Narruhn 
then proceeded to a woman’s 
bedroom and she woke up to 
Narruhn raping her. The victim 
was crying during the incident 
and saw Narruhn holding a pair 
of scissors against her lower back 
during the rape. Before leaving, 
Narruhn said, “this is between you 
and me.” The woman’s roommate 
told police he knocked on the 
victims bedroom door to see if 
she was ok and found her sitting 
on her bed crying but he did not 
see Narruhn come in or leave the 
house.

On February 15, 2022, Jimmy 
Topasna was accused of raping 
a girl when she was about fi ve 
or six years old, around 2015 or 
2016. The girl, 12 years old now, 
confi ded in her school counselor 
about being sexually assaulted 
by someone she knew. The only 
reason the victim came forward 
was because Topasna had moved 
closer to her home again. Topas-
na had gone into the bathroom 
while the girl was occupying it 
and lifted her up and started rap-
ing her. The victim told police that 
she saw white stuff  coming out of 
his penis when he withdrew it.

On February 14, 2022, Hunter 
Jesus Reyes was accused of being 
involved in a sexual relationship 
with a 15-year-old girl. The girl’s 
mother reported Reyes to the 
police.

STATUS:
Magistrated: February 14, 2022
Arraigned: 
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond her arraignment.

RELEASED FROM PRISON

STATUS:
Magistrated: February 16, 2022
Arraigned: 
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

INCARCERATED

STATUS:
Magistrated: February 17, 2022
Arraigned: 
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

INCARCERATED

STATUS:
Magistrated: February 18, 202
Arraigned: 
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

RELEASED FROM PRISON



Naethan J. Guerrero: 
CF0107-22
strangulation; family violence; 
assault of an unborn child

Drake Royce Q. Fejerang: 
CF0108-22
aggravated assault with special 
allegation

Frederico Manglona, Jr.: 
CF0115-22
advanced stalking; family violence; 
violation of a court order

Herculese Perez Axcell:
CF0116-22
attempted murder; second degree 
robbery; aggravated assault; theft 
of property

On February 17, 2022, Naethan 
Guerrero was accused of choking 
his pregnant girlfriend. Guerrero 
than grabbed her by the hair and 
neck and the victim had a hard 
time breathing. After throwing 
the victim on the bed, Guerrero 
continued to choke her neck with 
both hands. The victim ran to the 
balcony and screamed for help 
until Guerrero dragged her back 
inside by the hair. Police noted 
the victim to have a red marking 
on the left side of her neck, red 
marking and abrasions on the 
right side of her neck, abrasions 
on her right elbow, numerous lac-
erations along he3r left wrist, and 
an abrasion on her right knee. 
Two witnesses reported seeing 
the victim on the balcony calling 
for help and called the police.

On January 13, 2022, Drake Fe-
jerang was accused of throwing 
objects to his neighbor, chasing 
him and punching him until he 
was unconscious. The victim had 
abrasions to his left abdomin 
area, redness to his upper left 
back area, and slight swelling to 
the right side of his face. On Feb-
ruary 25, 2021, Fejerang hit some-
one with a stick on his left arm. 
The victim suff ered a broken left 
arm as a result of the attack. On 
May 06, 2020, Fejerang through 
a butane can at his brother’s face 
causing a laceration to the bridge 
of his nose. Fejerang said, “Yeah, I 
got him.” and fl ed the scene.

On February 21, 2022, Frederico 
Manglona was accused of head 
butting his ex-wife.  Manglona 
also balled up his right fi st and 
reached back as if he was going 
to punch her in the head or face.  
A security guard corroborated the 
story for police, yelling at the cou-
ple before Manglona could strike 
the victim.  Manglona admitted 
that he has a stay-away order 
from two prior family violence 
cases the victim has against him.  

On February 21, 2022, Hercules 
Axcell, Shaun Sablan, and Rebec-
ca San Nicolas, were accused of 
robbing a man known to them.  
Police saw a shirtless male run-
ning on the roadway, waving his 
arms to get the offi  cer’s attention.  
The victim said he had gone to 
a house to play darts and had 
$850 in his possession.  Axcell 
and Sablan went into a bedroom 
and the victim did not notice.  
San Nicolas asked the victim to 
follow her into the bedroom and 
Axcell and Sablan attacked him.  
He was punched in the face and 
back of his head, the two men 
took turns stabbing him with a 
kitchen knife.  The victim ran into 
the jungle until he waved down a 
passing patrol vehicle.  The victim 
had a one-inch puncture wound 
on the rib area near his armpit, a 
one-inch puncture wound near 
his right elbow, abrasions and 
swelling on the back portion of 
his head, back, and right hip area.   
When offi  cers arrived at the scene 
of the crime and noted what 
appeared to be a blood splatter 
in the bedroom.  The blood led to 
the kitchen area and there were 
blood droplets under the kitchen 
table.  A kitchen knife with a black 
handle was found and had blood 
on it

STATUS:
Magistrated: February 18, 2022
Arraigned: 
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond her arraignment.

RELEASED FROM PRISON

STATUS:
Magistrated: February 18, 2022
Arraigned: 
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

RELEASED FROM PRISON

STATUS:
Magistrated: February 22, 2022
Arraigned: 
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

INCARCERATED

STATUS:
Magistrated: February 22, 2020
Arraigned: 
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

INCARCERATED



Shaun Christopher Sablan:
CF0116-22
attempted murder; second degree 
robbery; aggravated assault; theft 
of property

Rebecca San Nicolas:
CF0116-22
second degree robbery; aggravated 
assault; theft of property

Fred Francisco Blas Jr.: 
CF0112-22
terrorizing; family violence; disor-
derly conduct

Joaquin James Fejeran: 
CF0113-22
vehicular homicide; negligent 
homicide

STATUS:
Magistrated: February 22, 2020
Arraigned: February 24, 2022
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

INCARCERATED

STATUS:
Magistrated: February 22, 2020
Arraigned: 
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond her arraignment.

INCARCERATED

STATUS:
Magistrated: February 22, 2020
Arraigned: 
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

RELEASED FROM PRISON

STATUS:
Magistrated: February 22, 2020
Arraigned: 
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

INCARCERATED

On February 21, 2022, Hercules 
Axcell, Shaun Sablan, and Rebec-
ca San Nicolas, were accused of 
robbing a man known to them.  
Police saw a shirtless male run-
ning on the roadway, waving his 
arms to get the offi  cer’s attention.  
The victim said he had gone to 
a house to play darts and had 
$850 in his possession.  Axcell 
and Sablan went into a bedroom 
and the victim did not notice.  
San Nicolas asked the victim to 
follow her into the bedroom and 
Axcell and Sablan attacked him.  
He was punched in the face and 
back of his head, the two men 
took turns stabbing him with a 
kitchen knife.  The victim ran into 
the jungle until he waved down a 
passing patrol vehicle.  The victim 
had a one-inch puncture wound 
on the rib area near his armpit, a 
one-inch puncture wound near 
his right elbow, abrasions and 
swelling on the back portion of 
his head, back, and right hip area.   
When offi  cers arrived at the scene 
of the crime and noted what 
appeared to be a blood splatter 
in the bedroom.  The blood led to 
the kitchen area and there were 
blood droplets under the kitchen 
table.  A kitchen knife with a black 
handle was found and had blood 
on it.

On February 21, 2022, Hercules 
Axcell, Shaun Sablan, and Rebec-
ca San Nicolas, were accused of 
robbing a man known to them.    
The victim said he had gone to a 
house to play darts and had $850 
in his possession.  While playing 
darts, Axcell and Sablan went 
into a bedroom and the victim 
did not notice.  San Nicolas asked 
the victim to follow her into the 
bedroom and Axcell and Sablan 
attacked him.  He was punched 
in the face and back of his head, 
the two men took turns stabbing 
him with a kitchen knife.  The 
victim ran into the jungle until 
he waved down a passing patrol 
vehicle.  The victim told police 
that San Nicolas had “set him up” 
and “lured him.”  When offi  cers 
arrived at the scene of the crime 
and noted what appeared to be 
a blood splatter in the bedroom.  
The blood led to the kitchen area 
and there were blood droplets 
under the kitchen table.  A kitch-
en knife with a black handle was 
found and had blood on it.  

On February 21, 2022, Fred Blas 
was accused of threatening to 
burn down Wyndham Garden 
Hotel after being told to leave.  
Blas yelled, “F**k you guys, I’ll 
burn this place down.” Blas left 
and when he returned, he was 
arguing with his wife in front of 
the hotel’s guest drop-off  area, 
chased her around their vehicle 
and yelled, “F**k you, do it again, 
and you will see what happens.”  
A hotel employee witnessed the 
incident and coroborrated the 
victim’s story.

On February 5, 2022, Joaquin 
Fejeran was accused of running a 
stop sign while operating a dump 
truck which struck an 81-year-
old man at a cross walk.  Fejeran 
drove away.  Surveillance footage 
was taken of the incident.  Offi  -
cers inspected the dump trucks 
and observed hair and skin on 
one of the trucks.  Fejeran said he 
never saw anyone in the cross-
walk and was unaware that a 
pedestrian had been struck.



Edelina Marie Castro: 
CM0062-22
family violence; child abuse; crimi-
nal trespass

Jason Scott Matsumiya: 
CM0061-22
violation of a court order; criminal 
trespass; harassment

STATUS:
Magistrated: February 23, 2022
Arraigned: 
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond her arraignment.

RELEASED FROM PRISON

STATUS:
Magistrated: February 22, 2022
Arraigned: 
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

INCARCERATED

STATUS:
Magistrated: February 25, 2022
Arraigned: 
The AG’s offi  ce has not made any 
progress beyond his arraignment.

RELEASED FROM PRISON

On February 22, 2022, Edelina 
Castro was accused of refusing 
to leave her father-in-laws house 
after she had been told to leave.  
Castro’s father-in-law said that ev-
erytime his son and Castro would 
argue, Castro would “take it out 
on the kids.”  Her father-in-law 
reported that Castro had grabbed 
her 3-year-old son by the hair, 
raised him up, and shoved him to 
the ground.

On January 25, 2022, Jason 
Matsumiya was accused of tres-
passing the Perez Acres premises.  
Matsumiya went to his ex-girl-
friend’s residence and wanted to 
speak to the victim about getting 
back together, which she refused 
to do.  When she told Matsumi-
ya to leave, he left and returned 
minutes later and banged on 
the door because it was locked.  
Matsumiya’s nine-year-old son 
opened the door and Matsumiya 
proceeded to the victim’s bed-
room and started banging on the 
door which was also locked.  Their 
15-year-old son pulled Matsumiya 
away from the door and Matsum-
iya left.  Matsumiya was ordered 
to stay away from the victim in a 
prior family violence case.

On February 24, 2022, Royce 
Benavente was accused of throw-
ing rocks to his sister after she 
refused to give him money.  The 
victim had redness to her hand 
where the rock had struck her.  
When police offi  cers arrived, Be-
navente said he would f**k them 
up if the offi  cers got near him and 
that if he had it his way he would 
kill everyone who lived there, re-
ferring to his father’s house where 
the alleged incident occurred.  
Offi  cer Pangelinan also reported 
that Benavente tried to kick him 
but missed and said he “was lucky 
that he was handcuff ed.”  When 
offi  cers informed Benavente that 
he was being arrested and trans-
ported to the precinct, Benavente 
asked if there was an octagon 
ring at the precinct because he 
wanted to make the offi  cer bleed.

Royce Benavente: 
CF0117-22
assault on a peace offi  cer; family 
violence


